NOT YET SCHEDULED FOR ORAL ARGUMENT
21-CM-693 & 25-CO-043



Clerk of the Court
Received 06/30/2025 11:22 PM
Filed 06/30/2025 11:22 PM

**IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS**

WINSTON WALKER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

On Appeal From The Superior Court
Of The District Of Columbia

**OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT
WINSTON WALKER**

Richard P. Goldberg (Bar No. 492926)
GOLDBERG & GOLDBERG, PLLC
1250 Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 700
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 656-5774
richard.goldberg@goldberglawdc.com
Counsel for Appellant Winston Walker

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Apparently believing that the defendant had touched his cousin, a man aggressively confronted the defendant and hurled angry profanities at him, face-to-face, with nothing between them. Where this put the defendant in reasonable fear of imminent violence, did the trial court err in denying him an acquittal of simple assault by reason of self-defense?
2. The trial court convicted the defendant of simple assault, explicitly relying upon hearsay that was plainly inadmissible. Without that inadmissible hearsay, the evidence would have been equivocal and therefore insufficient to convict as a matter of law. As a result, the defendant convicted by this inadmissible hearsay did not receive a fair trial. Should the conviction based on hearsay be vacated?
3. The defendant was convicted of simple assault of a complainant who the government did not call to testify at trial. The conviction was largely based on hearsay—statements allegedly made by the non-testifying complainant, and reported by the other complainant—to which trial counsel (without excuse) failed to object. This hearsay was essential in convicting the defendant. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Winston Walker was charged by criminal information with one count of simple assault, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404, and one count of misdemeanor sexual abuse, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-3006. R.12. After a two-day bench trial, the trial court found Mr. Walker guilty of the simple-assault charge. It found that the government had failed to prove an essential element of the crime of misdemeanor sexual abuse but had proved the lesser-included offense of simple assault. For each count of simple assault, Mr. Walker was sentenced to 30 days incarceration, execution of sentence suspended as to all, with 6 months of unsupervised probation, as well as a \$50 VVC fine for each count, with both periods of incarceration and both periods of probation to run concurrently, R.51.¹

During the pendency of this appeal, Mr. Walker also filed a motion for relief for ineffective assistance of counsel, under D.C. Code § 23-110, which (by leave of court) he subsequently amended. RS.15-30 (initial motion); RS.157-171 (amended motion) (hereinafter, the amended motion is referred to as the “§ 23-110 motion” or “Mot.”). Following a motion to stay the direct appeal during the pendency of the § 23-110 motion, this court held the motion to stay in abeyance until the § 23-110 motion had been decided. Order of May 9, 2022, *et seq.* On

¹ Citations to the trial record refer to the PDF record and are in the form, “R.[page number]; citations to the record of the proceedings under D.C. Code § 22-110 (ineffective assistance of counsel) refer to the supplemental PDF record and are in the form, “RS.[page number]”; citations to the transcripts are in the form Tr. [date], [page number(s)].

January 13, 2025, the § 23-110 motion was denied by the Superior Court. RS.219-230 (hereinafter, “Order”).

Having filed timely notices of appeal from the judgment, R.53-54, and the § 23-110 motion, RS.231-32, Mr. Walker now appeals his convictions and the denial of his § 23-110 motion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial, two witnesses testified for the government, Codera Bracy and MPD Detective Elbert Griffen; two witnesses testified for the defense, Colleen McGraw and Rico Winston. Ms. Blankney, the alleged victim of the acquitted sexual assault, was not called to testify by the government.

A. The testimony of only one of the two complainants, Codera Bracy.

Complainant Codera Bracy testified for the government. He explained that he lives in New York, Tr. 02/06/2020, 15-16, and on the night of the altercation he and some friends, including his cousin Taylor Blankney, were out in D.C. to celebrate a friend’s birthday, partying day and night on both Friday and Saturday, Tr. 02/06/2020, 18. On Friday, the festivities had begun during a late brunch, with a brief break, and then continued with celebrations at two bars. Tr. 02/06/2020, 19. On Saturday and into the early morning hours of Sunday (the day of the incident), the party began at brunch and continued later at a nightclub. Tr. 02/06/2020, 19. During the evening alone, Mr. Bracy testified, he had four drinks before eating dinner, finally eating for the first time in several hours when the group purchased takeout pizza and began eating it on the sidewalk. Tr. 02/06/2020, 20. Mr. Bracy’s level of intoxication, he estimated, on a scale of one

to ten was about a six. Tr. 02/06/2020, 21. Mr. Bracy claimed that Mr. Walker approached the group, sat next to his cousin Taylor Blankney, and asked for a piece of pizza. Tr. 02/06/2020, 22. Meanwhile, Mr. Bracy was in the road, looking for their Uber car.

Mr. Bracy testified that Ms. Blankney yelled that Mr. Walker could not have any pizza. Tr. 02/06/2020, 24. He further testified that Mr. Walker, who was shoulder-to-shoulder with Ms. Blankney, dropped his hand, “touching her butt.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 25. He then testified that she yelled, “Don’t touch me.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 26. Mr. Bracy went on to testify that Ms. Blankney moved away from Mr. Walker and, upset, said that what he did was not ok. Tr. 02/06/2020, 26. He also testified that she yelled, “move away” and used profanity. Tr. 02/06/2020, 26.

At that moment, Mr. Bracy approached Mr. Walker (who, Mr. Bracy testified, continued to insist that he could touch who he wanted to) and “became defensive.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 27. He “immediately addressed the individua[l] and said you cannot do that.” He also “used profanity and said things such as defending her.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 28. He grew immediately frustrated. By then, he and Mr. Walker “got close”—nothing separated them—and they were “arguing, going back and forth.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 28.

At that time, Mr. Bracy testified, he was “brought down in that moment from behind” by an unidentified individual. On the ground, he then had to guard his face, as he was being hit. Tr. 02/06/2020, 29. At the time he did not see the person who attacked him from behind; but later he did see the person, who was not Mr. Walker. Tr. 02/06/2020, 29-30. At the time, he said, Mr. Walker hit him in

the nose while he was down. Tr. 02/06/2020, 30-31. It was not until after the altercation, he testified, that a member of the group named Shakira got sick and threw up. Tr. 02/06/2020, 34-35.

B. The identification testimony of the officer who arrested Mr. Walker, Detective Elbert Griffin.

Detective Elbert Griffin, a nearly 30-year veteran of the D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, testified for the government. Tr. 02/06/2020, 42. He explained that he was assigned to the Criminal Investigations Division, Sexual Assault Unit, and after he arrived at the scene, he arrested Mr. Walker. Tr. 02/06/2020, 42-43. At the time, he noticed that Mr. Bracy's nose was bleeding. He also testified that Mr. Walker was arrested at 4:45 a.m., and that the incident had occurred at 3:57 a.m. Tr. 02/06/2020, 46-47.

C. The character testimony of Mr. Walker's former colleague and current friend of 20 years, Colleen McGraw.

Colleen McGraw testified for the defense. She explained that she had known Mr. Walker for 20 years, first as a work colleague and then as a friend. Tr. 02/06/2020, 8-9. They had not only worked together but socialized outside of work, as work "often has blurred boundaries sometimes in terms of socializing," including "happy hours and the like" after work. Tr. 02/06/2020, 15. Describing him as a pacifist, Tr. 02/06/2020, 7, she knew him as a proud family man, Tr. 02/06/2020, 9. She also testified that the physically assaultive behavior with which Mr. Walker was charged was not characteristic of the person she knew him to be. Tr. 02/06/2020, 12. In fact, when told what he was charged with, her reaction was, she testified, "Shock." Tr. 02/06/2020, 13. She explained that

Mr. Walker was “incredibly helpful, proactively the most pacifist person” and noted that she “would seek him out as an oasis of calm in the course of my employment.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 13. She further testified that in the entire 20 years she had known him, she had “[n]ever” seen any behavior or indication that would lead her to believe that he would physically assault someone, sexually or otherwise. Tr. 02/06/2020, 13-14. When asked by the government whether she ever saw Mr. Walker under the influence of alcohol, she answered, “No, I have not. I mean . . . he wasn’t one to indulge.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 16-17. Asked whether he was ever intoxicated, she testified that he was not. Tr. 02/06/2020, 17. Finally, she testified that the crimes with which Mr. Walker had been charged “are not consistent with his character.” Tr. 02/06/2020, 17.

D. The testimony of the defense eyewitness, Mr. Walker’s friend Rico Winston.

Rico Winston testified for the defense. Tr. 03/03/2020, 19. He was with Mr. Walker at the time of the incident, as the two had been together at Rosebar, a nearby nightclub. Tr. 03/03/2020, 20-21. Mr. Walker and Mr. Winston were at Rosebar—the only bar or nightclub they had visited that evening—for about an hour and a half. Tr. 03/03/2020, 21. During that time, although Mr. Winston had about three drinks, and they were together the entire time, he didn’t see Mr. Walker drink anything. Tr. 03/03/2020, 30. When they emerged, he testified, “there was a young lady on the bench kind of leaned over throwing up,” Tr. 03/03/2020, 20, and she had a few friends standing nearby, Tr. 03/03/2020, 21. Mr. Walker went over to “try to assist the girl that was throwing up . . . [because] she had her hair in her face, getting[,] like[,] in the throw up, so he tried to like,

help her up.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 22. “[H]e was asking her was she ok.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 22.

Mr. Winston testified that he never saw Mr. Walker touch the girl he was trying to help. “Her hair was like, in her face while she was throwing up, so it was kind of like, in, on her hair He went over to help her out, asked if she was ok, and she didn’t say nothing so he just—he didn’t do nothing.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 23. But at that point, [t]hat’s when her friends, mainly her male friend, began to like, argue with him as if he was doing something, but he wasn’t doing nothing.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 23. Mr. Winston couldn’t hear what they were saying, he testified, “I just heard shouting,” which “eventually escalated into them like, shoving and stuff.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 24. This turned into “pretty much a wrestling match.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 25.

Mr. Winston, at first, testified that he didn’t see who hit whom first. Tr. 03/03/2020, 25. But after the prosecutor used the police body-worn camera video to refresh his recollection, Mr. Winston recalled that “[t]he other gentleman,” Mr. Bracy, hit Mr. Walker first. Tr. 03/03/2020, 39. Mr. Winston also testified that he was watching Mr. Walker “the whole time” during the incident, and he “didn’t seem him touch her [Ms. Blankney] at all.” He also testified that Ms. Blankney never said anything like “get off me.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 26.

E. The testimony of the second complainant, Taylor Blankney.

The government did not call Ms. Blankney to testify. The government made no representations about why Ms. Blankney did not come to the District to testify,

and it provided no reasons about why it did not subpoena her or call her to testify.

See Tr. 02/06/2020, 10.

F. The trial court's findings.

At the close of the government's case, the trial court denied the defense motion for judgment of acquittal. Tr. 03/03/2020, 5, and at the conclusion of the trial, it found Mr. Walker guilty of simple assault for punching Mr. Bracy; not-guilty of sexual assault for touching Ms. Blankney; and guilty of the lesser-included offense of simple assault for touching her.

The trial court found Mr. Bracy credible.² It credited his testimony that Mr. Bracy was pulled down by someone else, not Mr. Walker, and that Mr. Walker then punched Mr. Bracy in the nose. Tr. 03/03/2020, 62-63. The court acknowledged that the defense had argued that "there's at least some evidence that Mr. [Bracy] was the aggressor." Tr. 03/03/2020, 63. However, it did not find credible Mr. Winston's testimony, after the government refreshed his recollection with the body-camera video, that Mr. Bracy was the first aggressor. Tr. 03/03/2020, 63.

The court credited the testimony that Mr. Walker "touched Ms. Blankney on her buttocks." Tr. 03/03/2020, 64. It emphasized that it also credited the testimony that she "reacted very negatively," nothing that she refused Mr. Walker's request for a slice of pizza, "and then after he touched her, jumped back, yelled, "Don't touch me," and continued to yell at him. Tr. 03/03/2020, 65.

² The court actually said that it "found Mr. Blankney to be credible." But the other purported victim was *Ms.* Blankney; and the witness was *Mr.* Bracy. This error—calling Mr. Bracy Mr. Blankney—continued throughout the trial court's findings.

However, the court acquitted Mr. Walker of misdemeanor sexual assault, because there was not sufficient evidence of the third element,” which requires that the defendant have the intent to “abuse or humiliate or arouse or gratify his own or another person’s sexual desire, and that there was “certainly not evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 65. However, having found that Mr. Walker touched Ms. Blankney at all—and that he knew or should have known that he lacked permission to do so—the court found him guilty of simple assault, “which is a lesser included offense.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 65.

The trial court also found that Mr. Walker “used force to injure Mr. [Bracy]” when he “punched him in the face and broke his nose.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 66; *but see* Tr. 02/06/2020, 36 (Mr. Bracy: “It wasn’t broken.”). Finding that the contact was not accidental but rather intentional, and that Mr. Walker “had the apparent ability to injure, which he clearly did since he did in fact injure him,” the trial court found Mr. Walker guilty of assaulting Mr. Bracy. The trial court further held, “I credit Mr. [Bracy]’s testimony, which was he was pushed to the ground and then the defendant pushed him.” Tr. 03/03/2020, 67.³

G. The Sentencing.

At sentencing, the government—recognizing that Mr. Walker had very little criminal history and no history of sexual misconduct—requested a stay-away order from what the trial court recognized was “a public sidewalk,” where neither of the “victims live or work,” as well as 60 days’ suspended time (i.e., consecutive

³ It is also possible that the trial court meant “punched,” not pushed; the *already corrected* transcript, *see* Tr. 03/03/2020, 1, says “pushed,” Tr. 03/03/2020, 67.

sentences) and “one year of supervised probation to include alcohol and drug testing and treatment . . . as it appears that the events in this—of that evening were fueled largely by alcohol.⁴ Tr. 09/21/2021, 4-5. The government also noted that one of the victims yelled, “don’t touch me.” Tr. 09/21/2021, 4.

The trial court, however, recognizing that Mr. Walker⁵ was “gainfully employed in a skilled field and has been for decades, at least two, going on three,” and that there were no other violations, sentenced him to 30 days on each count to run concurrently, with six months of unsupervised probation. Tr. 09/21/2021, 11-12. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When considering a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this court “view[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, giving full play to the right of the [fact-finder] to determine credibility, weigh the evidence, and draw justifiable inferences of fact, and making no distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence.” *Brooks v. United States*, 130 A.3d 952, 955 (D.C. 2016) (second alteration original). “[T]he evidence is sufficient if, after viewing it in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* (alteration original).

⁴ Notably, there was no testimony or other evidence, during the entire trial, that Mr. Walker had any alcohol at all to drink. It is possible that the prosecutor was recalling the “seven hours of drinking in a session,” without dinner, that Mr. Bracy had testified to. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 03/03/2020, 55.

⁵ At sentencing, the trial court actually referred to Mr. Walker as “Mr. Harris.” Tr. 09/21/2021, 11.

This court reviews challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence *de novo*. *Carrell v. United States*, 165 A.3d 314, 326 (D.C. 2017) (en banc). Review of a motion for judgment of acquittal is also *de novo*. *Tann v. United States*, 127 A.3d 400, 424 (D.C. 2015). Furthermore, “[e]ven though a general motion for acquittal is broadly stated, without specific grounds, it is deemed sufficient to preserve the full range of challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence.” *Newby v. United States*, 797 A.2d 1233, 1238 (D.C. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). In fact, “it is well settled in this jurisdiction that a ‘full range of challenges’ to the sufficiency of the evidence are automatically preserved at a bench trial by a defendant’s plea of not guilty.” *Carrell*, 165 A.3d at 326 (quoting *Newby*, 797 A.2d at 1237-38). “[S]ufficiency challenges encompass challenges to the requisite elements of the crime.” *Id.* Whether a statement satisfies a particular hearsay exception is a legal question that this court reviews *de novo*. *Jones v. United States*, 17 A.3d 628, 631 (D.C. 2011).

This court reviews questions of fact under the “clearly erroneous” standard. *United States v. Felder*, 548 A.2d 57, 61 (D.C. 1988). Although this court “will not disturb the judge’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, or without substantial support in the record,” *Harris v. United States*, 738 A.2d 269, 274 (D.C. 1999), “not all credibility findings are equal,” *Stringer v. United States*, 301 A.3d 1218, 1228 (D.C. 2023). And although this court has made clear that it is “particularly unlikely to find clear error with respect to credibility determinations based on the witness’s demeanor,” where “[d]ocuments or objective evidence may contradict the witness’[s] story . . . we ‘may well find clear

error even in a finding purportedly based on a credibility determination.”” *Id.* at 1228 (quoting *Anderson v. Bessemer City*, 470 U.S. 564, 575 (1985)) (alterations original).

As a result, this court may make its “own comparison between the witness’s version of events and the objective facts” and subject the finding “to something less stringent than clear-error review.” *Id.* This is particularly so where such factual finding is not “based on factors that [could] only be ascertained after observing the witness testify.” *Caston v. United States*, 146 A.3d 1082, 1099 (D.C. 2016) (emphasis added). Moreover, “the significance of inconsistencies” in testimony “is a determination of law, subject to appellate scrutiny.” *Stringer*, 301 A.3d at 1228 (quoting *Caston*, 146 A.3d at 1096).

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

The trial court made three fundamental errors. *First*, as set forth in **Parts I and II**, Mr. Walker was entitled to an acquittal based on a defense of self-defense. He had been confronted by an angry, excited, drunk Mr. Bracy, who hurled profanity at him and confronted him physically, face-to-face. This pent-up threat—what this court has referred to as “a clenched fist”—provided Mr. Walker with the right to defend himself from what he would have perceived as the likely coming assault by Mr. Bracy. Mr. Walker’s conviction for assaulting Mr. Bracy should be vacated.

Second, as set forth in **Part III**, the court below incorrectly denied Mr. Walker’s motion to vacate the judgment and sentence under D.C. Code § 23-110. Trial counsel failed to object to obvious and damning hearsay (for no

conceivable reason), which was virtually all that supported the conviction for assaulting Ms. Blankney, who did not even testify. Without that inadmissible hearsay, the evidence would have been too thin for conviction.

Third, as set forth in **Part IV**, without that inadmissible hearsay, the verdict was supported only by equivocal actions by Ms. Blankney, as described by Mr. Bracy. This court cannot be sure that it is *highly probable* that the erroneously admitted hearsay was immaterial to the trial court's assessment of Mr. Walker's guilt, because in fact it is highly probable that the improper hearsay was the basis of the conviction.

ARGUMENT

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