BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 09/29/2025 03:35 PM
Filed 09/29/2025 03:35 PM

Nos. 21-CM-693; 25-CO-043

WINSTON WALKER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB
DANIEL J. LENERZ
ELIOT A. FOLSOM
* JORDAN K. HUMMEL
N.Y. Bar #5207055
Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
Jordan.Hummel2@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2019-CMD-10473

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

possible to do so.” *Andrews v. United States*, 125 A.3d 316, 322 (D.C. 2015) (quoting *Tyler v. United States*, 975 A.2d 848, 858 (D.C. 2009)). But Walker did nothing to avoid the confrontation with Bracy; instead, he argued with Bracy, insisting (inaccurately) that he had the right to touch Blankney. Third, and perhaps most importantly, Walker did not punch Bracy when the men were standing close and arguing, at the time that Bracy was (allegedly) a threat; instead, he punched Bracy only after a third party had tackled Bracy to the ground from behind and Bracy was being hit and protecting himself. At that time, as the trial court found, Bracy “did not present a threat to [Walker],” and thus it was not objectively reasonable for Walker to use force against Bracy.

In sum, there was sufficient evidence for the trial court to reject Walker’s self-defense claim. *See Belt*, 149 A.3d at 1058; *Douglas v. United States*, 859 A.2d 641, 642 (D.C. 2004) (affirming conviction where “it [wa]s plain enough that [the trial judge] credited the testimony of the complainant that [defendant] was the aggressor”).

II. The Motion Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Denying Walker's D.C. Code § 23-110 Motion.

Walker urges (at 20-24) that the motion court improperly denied his § 23-110 motion because his trial counsel failed to object to allegedly “inadmissible hearsay.” His claim lacks merit.

A. Applicable Legal Principles and Standard of Review.

This Court reviews the denial of a § 23-110 motion for abuse of discretion. *Rivera v. United States*, 941 A.2d 434, 441 (D.C. 2008). In conducting that review, this Court assesses the trial court’s findings of fact for clear error and determinations on questions of law de novo. *Jenkins v. United States*, 870 A.2d 27, 33-34 (D.C. 2005).

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must meet a two-prong standard. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, (1984). First, the defendant must show that his trial counsel committed errors “so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Id.* at 687. Second, the defendant must prove prejudice “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.” *Id.*

In evaluating counsel's performance, the reviewing court "must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 (citation omitted); *accord Hill v. United States*, 4890 A.2d 1078, 1080 (D.C. 1985), *cert. denied*, 476 U.S. 1119 (1986). "Trial tactical decisions generally do not result in a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Zanders v. United States*, 678 A.2d 556, 569 (D.C. 1996). Likewise, strategic choices will not be second-guessed because "[m]any alternative tactics are available to defense attorneys and their actions are often the products of strategic choices made on the basis of their subjective assessment of the circumstances existing at trial." *Id.* (quoting *Carter v. United States*, 475 A.2d 1118, 1123 (D.C. 1984)). "Mere errors of judgment and tactics as disclosed by hindsight do not, by themselves, constitute ineffectiveness." *Lane v. United States*, 737 A.2d 541, 549 (D.C. 1999) (quoting *Curry v. United States*, 498 A.2d 534, 540 (D.C. 1985)).

On the prejudice prong, the defendant must show that "but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. This Court "need not address both prongs of the *Strickland* test if

the defendant does not meet the burden of one or the other showing.” (*Rodney*) *Brown v. United States*, 934 A.2d 930, 943 (D.C. 2007) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

B. Discussion.

It was not an abuse of discretion for the motion court to find that Walker had not demonstrated deficient performance or actual prejudice with respect to counsel’s failure to object to Blankney’s statements, which were admissible either as non-hearsay or under the state of mind hearsay exception. *See United States v. Islam*, 932 F.3d 957, 964 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (“The failure to raise a meritless objection is not deficient performance.”); (*Rodney*) *Brown*, 934 A.2d at 944 (finding no deficient performance where “counsel may have prudently assumed that Payne’s statement, made immediately after he was shot, would be admitted as an excited utterance or present sense impression”).

At trial, Bracy testified that he heard Blankney yelling, “move, no, this is my pizza” (2/6/20 Tr. 24). He then saw Blankney “going back and forth” with Walker about the boxes of pizza she was holding (*id.* at 23-24). Blankney “insisted . . . this is my box, I bought this pizza, and no, you can’t have any” (*id.* at 24). After Walker touched Blankney on the

buttocks, Blankney yelled “[d]on’t touch me” and “[m]oved away” from Walker (*id.* at 26). Blankney also yelled “move away” and “used profanity”—she was “[e]xtremely upset” and Bracy could “see and hear [her] frustration” (*id.*).

According to Walker, Blankney’s statements “[d]on’t touch me” and “move away” were “plainly hearsay,” the admission of which prejudiced him (Br. at 20-21). Not so. As an initial matter, Blankney’s statements were commands, which are not hearsay because they are not assertions of fact. *See United States v. White*, 639 F.3d 331, 337 (7th Cir. 2011) (“a command is not hearsay because it is not an assertion of fact”); *United States v. Kivanc*, 714 F.3d 782, 793 (4th Cir. 2013) (“providing directions from one individual to another do[es] not constitute hearsay”); *United States v. Diaz*, 670 F.3d 332, 346 (1st Cir. 2012) (“Out-of-court statements providing directions from one individual to another do not constitute hearsay.”); *United States v. Thomas*, 451 F.3d 543, 548 (8th Cir. 2006) (“commands generally are not intended as assertions, and therefore cannot constitute hearsay”); *United States v. Bellomo*, 176 F.3d 580, 586 (2d Cir. 1999) (“Statements offered as evidence of commands . . . rather than for the truth of the matter asserted therein, are not hearsay.”).

There is nothing that can be true or false about Blankney's statements “[d]on't touch me” and “move away,” and thus they cannot have been offered for their truth. *See United States v. Rodriguez-Lopez*, 565 F.3d 312, 314-15 (6th Cir. 2009) (“[I]f the statements were questions or commands, they could not . . . be offered for their truth because they would not be assertive speech at all. They would not assert a proposition that could be true or false.”). They were thus admissible as non-hearsay.

Second, even if Blankney's statements could theoretically be admitted for their truth, each was admissible as non-hearsay and the motion court appropriately concluded that counsel was not ineffective for failing to object. First, “[i]t is fundamental that an out-of-court statement is not hearsay if it is offered for a purpose other than to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” *Perritt v. United States*, 640 A.2d 702, 704 (D.C. 1994). “[T]his court has routinely recognized out-of-court statements as non-hearsay when they are used to show the effect on the listener and not to prove their truth.” *In re Dixon*, 853 A.2d 708, 712 (D.C. 2004) (citation omitted) (admitting “testimony not to prove that appellant violated the [order], but to show that he was aware of its existence and its requirements”); *Mercer v. United States*, 864 A.2d 110, 118 (D.C. 2004)

(holding statement to witness to tell third party that appellant “wants him,” was admissible because “it was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted” (that the particular statement was made), “but rather to show why [the third party] went outside (presumably because [someone] asked him to come out).”).

Here, Blankney’s statements were not offered for their truth, but to show their effect on Bracy and Walker. When Walker touched Blankney’s buttocks, Bracy testified that he saw her reaction and she “screamed or yelled,” “don’t touch me” (2/6/20 Tr. 25-26). Based on Blankney’s reaction, Bracy approached her to help and engaged in a verbal altercation with Walker so that Walker would cease his conduct. Blankney’s statements “don’t touch me” and “move away” were thus admissible to show their effect on Bracy—the reason he approached Walker and began yelling at him. Likewise, Blankney’s statements informed Walker that he did not have her permission or consent to touch her again. They were thus admissible to show their effect on Walker—the reason he argued with Bracy and insisted that he could touch whomever he wanted. Thus, each statement was admissible for a non-hearsay purpose and counsel’s

failure to make a meritless objection does not establish deficient performance. *Islam*, 932 F.3d at 964; *(Rodney) Brown*, 934 A.2d at 944.

Walker argues (at 22) that the statements could not have been admitted to prove their effect on him because the statements were made after he touched Blankney's buttocks and "there was no other listener upon whom the statements needed to have any effect." This argument ignores that the statements were admissible to prove their effect on Bracy and to explain how the altercation between him and Walker began. Moreover, the statements were admissible to prove their effect on Walker because the statements were indisputably probative as circumstantial evidence that Walker knew or should have known that Blankney did not consent to the touching. Indeed, Blankney's immediate, strong reaction supported the unsurprising conclusion that she did not consent to a stranger touching her buttocks after she declined his request to take her pizza. They were admissible to show their effect on Walker, who never denied touching Blankney, but instead claimed that he could touch whomever he wanted.

And even if Blankney's statements were somehow only admissible for their truth, each was admissible to prove Blankney's state of mind.

The state of mind exception to the hearsay rule “permits the use of hearsay statements for the limited purpose of showing the state of mind of the declarant” if the declarant’s state of mind is at issue in the trial. *Jones v. United States*, 17 A.3d 628, 632 (D.C. 2011) (quoting *Evans-Reid v. District of Columbia*, 930 A.2d 930, 944 (D.C. 2007)).

It is undisputed that Blankney’s state of mind was at issue in this case. The government was required to prove that Blankney did not consent to Walker touching her to prove misdemeanor sexual abuse, or that she was offended by the touching to prove simple assault (the lesser included offense of which Walker was convicted). *See Nkop v. United States*, 945 A.2d 617, 619–20 (D.C. 2008) (third element of misdemeanor sexual abuse is that the defendant “knew or should have known that he or she did not have the complainant’s permission to engage in the sexual act or sexual contact”) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted); *Perez Hernandez v. United States*, 286 A.3d 990, 992, 1004 (D.C. 2022) (third element of offensive touching assault is “that the touching offended the other person”) (footnote omitted). Walker acknowledges as much on appeal by positing (at 24-25) that he would have been acquitted of the

charges involving Blankney without her statements because there would have been no other evidence of her state of mind.⁶

Walker speculates (at 21-22) that even if the statements were admitted to prove Blankney's state of mind, the trial court must have improperly "considered the statements for their truth" because the statements are "essentially a declaration that the defendant was not permitted to touch" Blankney. As discussed above (at 26-27), there is no "truth" to the statements "don't touch me" and "move away." And even if there were, the state of mind hearsay exception is just that: an exception that allows certain out-of-court statements to be admitted for their truth.

See Fed. R. Evid. 803(3); *United States v. (Lester) Brown*, 122 F.4th 290, 296 (8th Cir. 2024) ("Under this exception, hearsay is admissible when the declarant makes a statement regarding his or her current mental or physical condition, sensation, emotion, thought, or plan."). The trial court

⁶ The statements at issue were also admissible as excited utterances. *See generally (Martin) Brown v. United States*, 27 A.3d 127, 131 (D.C. 2011) (an excited utterance is "a spontaneous declaration, not only tending to explain the act or occurrence with which it is connected but also indicating a spontaneous utterance of a thought while under the influence of that act or occurrence, with no opportunity for premeditation or deliberation") (internal quotation marks omitted).

was thus permitted to consider Blankney's statements as evidence that she did not consent to be touched by Walker.

Separately, the motion court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Walker had not shown that there was no reasonable possibility that the outcome of his trial would have been different had Blankney's statements been excluded (R2.229 (Order p. 11)). Contrary to Walker's assertion (at 23) that the "trial court cited no other evidence of the lack of permission but Ms. Blankney's statements," as the motion court explained, the trial court relied on Bracy's testimony about what he saw, including Blankney yelling at Walker and moving away from him right after he touched her buttocks. Even without Blankney's statements "don't touch me" and "move away," the evidence was overwhelming that Blankney found Walker's touch on her buttocks to be offensive, not "equivocal" as Walker contends (Br. at 25). Bracy saw Blankney move away from Walker after he touched her and yell at him using profanity, and he could see and hear that Blankney was frustrated and extremely upset (2/6/20 Tr. 25-26). Bracy's response—approaching Walker to defend Blankney and arguing with Walker about Walker's claimed right to touch whomever he wanted—was additional evidence that Bracy knew in real

time that Walker's touch had offended Blankney. Given this evidence, the motion court correctly found no reasonable probability of a different result had the trial court excluded Blankney's alleged hearsay statements.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Commit Plain Error By Admitting Blankney's Statements.

Walker contends (at 25-28) that admitting Blankney's statements was plain error because the statements were inadmissible hearsay, and their admission was not harmless. This claim is meritless.

A. Applicable Legal Principles and Standard of Review.

The decision to admit or exclude evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a showing of an abuse of discretion. *Dade v. United States*, 663 A.2d 547, 552 (D.C. 1995) (citations omitted). But where a party does not object to the challenged evidence at trial, a claim that admitting such evidence was incorrect is reviewed for plain error. *See* Super. Ct. Crim. R. 52(b); *Lowery v. United States*, 3 A.3d 1169, 1172 (D.C. 2010).

B. Discussion.

Walker did not object to Bracy's testimony about Blankney's statements (2/6/20 Tr. 24-26), so this claim is unpreserved and subject to plain-error review. *See* Super. Ct. Crim. R. 52(b); *Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1172. "Under the test for plain error, [Walker] first must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected [his] substantial rights. Even if all three of these conditions are met, this [C]ourt will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1173 (cleaned up).

Here, Walker has not shown error, much less plain error, in the admission of Bracy's testimony about Blankney's statements (2/6/20 Tr. 24-26). As explained above (at 26-31), these statements were commands, which are not hearsay, and were further admissible either as non-hearsay to show their effect on the listener or under the state of mind hearsay exception. And even if the statements somehow should have been excluded, they were not so obviously hearsay that it was plain error for the trial court not to sua sponte exclude them. Finally, for the same reason that Walker cannot show prejudice for ineffective-assistance purposes, he cannot establish that the admission of Blankney's

statements affected his substantial rights for plain-error purposes. Thus, the court did not plainly err by admitting Blankney's statements.

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